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Alexander Chen [SBN 245798] 
alexc@inhouseco.com 
Katja M. Grosch [SBN 266935] 
kmg@inhouseco.com 
INHOUSE CO. LAW FIRM 
7700 Irvine Center Drive, Suite 800 
Irvine, CA 92618 
Telephone:  949-250-1555 
Facsimile:   714-882-7770 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

EASTERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

 
 

 

TOPFIRE LIMITED, a foreign company; HK 

MIUSON INTERNATIONAL CO., LIMITED, a 
foreign company; 
JIANGGONGXIUSHENZHENGUOJI-

MAOYIYOUXIANGONGSI, a foreign company; 
foreign company; and 

SHENZHENSHILINGBINQIPEI-

YOUXIANGONGSI, a foreign company. 
 

Plaintiffs, 
 

v.  
 

BENJAMIN D. COOK., an individual; and DOES 1 

through 10, inclusive. 

 

             Defendants. 
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Case No.  
 

COMPLAINT FOR: 

 

1. DECLARATORY JUDGMENT 

OF NON INFRINGEMENT OF 

U.S. PATENT NO. 11,772,539 B2; 

 

2. CALIFORNIA UNFAIR 

COMPETITION [CALIFORNIA 

BUSINESS AND PROFESSIONS 

CODE §§ 17200, 17500, 17535]; 

 

3. TRADE LIBEL; 

 

4. TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE 

WITH PROSPECTIVE 

ECONOMIC ADVANTAGE; and 

 

5. DECLARATION OF 

UNENFORCEABLILTY OF US 

PATENT NO. 11,772,539 B2 
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NOW COMES Plaintiffs Topfire Limited, HK Miuson International Co., Limited, 

Shenzhenshilingbinqipeiyouxiangongsi, and Jianggongxiushenzhenguojimaoyiyouxiangongsi, with 

knowledge as to their respective action and events, and upon information and belief as to other matters, 

allege as follows against Defendant Benjamin D. Cook (“Cook” or “Defendant”): 

NATURE OF THE ACTION 

1. This case is for unfair competition arising under federal patent laws 35 U.S.C. § 1 et seq. 

for declaratory judgment of noninfringement, California Business and Profession Code §§ 17200, 

17500, 17535, and common law tortuous interference with economic advantage.  

2. Plaintiffs seek declaratory judgment under federal patent laws that Plaintiffs do not 

infringe Defendant’s U.S. Patent No. US 11,772,539 B2 (“the ‘539 Patent”). See Exhibit 1 for U.S. 

Patent No. 11,772,539 B2. 

3. Plaintiffs also bring this action, in part, under California law against Defendant for 

illegal conduct, specifically targeting Plaintiffs, arising from Defendant’s acts of interference and unfair 

competition affecting the markets for cup expander products for automobiles (“Cup Expander 

Products”). As a result of Defendant’s anticompetitive conduct, Plaintiffs have sustained injury for 

which it seeks monetary damages and other appropriate relief to compensate Plaintiffs for the harm it 

suffered and injunction relief to end Defendant’s illegal conduct. Defendant’s intentional conduct has 

resulted in tortious inference with, and disruption of, Plaintiffs’ business with Amazon, and Plaintiffs’ 

prospective business relations with existing and potential customers. Defendant’s unfounded claims of 

infringement have also resulted in increased costs and higher prices to Plaintiffs and have injured 

competition and consumers in California, and elsewhere, with attendant increased prices for the 

aforementioned products. 

4. Plaintiffs have had valuable business relationships with their repsective business 

partners, including Amazon, on which Plaintiffs distribute their Cup Expander Products. Plaintiffs have 

had, during the period of this complaint, reasonable valuable expectations of actual and prospective 

business relationships, both from existing and new customers. Defendant was aware or should be aware 

of the existence of those actual and prospective relationships. As a result of Defendant’s intentional 

conduct, Plaintiffs have sustained injury for which it seeks money damages, injunctive relief and other 
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appropriate relief to compensate each of the Plaintiffs for the harm suffered. Defendant has falsely 

informed Amazon that Plaintiffs’ Cup Expander Products infringes the ‘539 Patent. Defendant has 

misled Amazon into believing that Defendant has exclusive patent rights which prohibit selling or 

distributing Plaintiffs’ Cup Expander Products and customers will be prohibited from buying Plaintiffs’ 

Cup Expander Products, when no such valid rights actually exist. Defendant’s false and misleading 

demand letters have caused Amazon and others in the trade to believe that Plaintiffs’ Cup Expander 

Products are illegal, unlawful and that Plaintiffs are engaged in unlawful conduct and, that Plaintiffs are 

a dishonest and disreputable business. Defendant’s statements are unfounded and not true.  

5. The conduct and acts of Defendant alleged herein have violated general principals of law 

and equity, constitute unfair competition under the laws of the State of California, and have damaged 

Plaintiffs as set forth herein. 

6. As a result of the wrongful conduct and acts of the Defendant alleged herein, Defendant 

has been unjustly enriched. 

7. Upon information and belief, as a result of the false or misleading description of fact, or 

false or misleading representations of fact, Amazon have been confused and/or are likely to be 

confused. Due to Defendant’s wrongful demand to desist and to delist the listing of Plaintiffs’ products, 

Plaintiffs lost sales on Plaintiffs’ own relevant goods. In addition, the goodwill associated with 

Plaintiffs’ products has lessened, and is likely to be lessened. 

8. As a direct and proximate result of the violations alleged herein, Plaintiffs have been, 

and will continue to be immediately and irreparably injured in its business and property by Defendant’s 

continuing violations. Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law to compensate for such injury, and 

unless Defendant is restrained by an appropriate order of this Court, Plaintiffs will continue to suffer an 

inability to compete fully and fairly in the market, loss of revenues, loss of profits Plaintiffs would 

otherwise have made, loss of substantial goodwill and reputation normally attached to a profitable 

enterprise, and a reduction in the value of its business as a going concern. 

9. As a direct and proximate result of the violations alleged herein and as intended by 

Defendant, Plaintiffs have sustained injury to its business, respective business and property, as follows: 

(a) Plaintiffs have incurred attorneys’ fees in the defense of Defendant’s baseless, exclusivity claims 
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described above; (b) Plaintiffs have lost and will lose profits in an amount as yet undetermined with 

certainty at present; (c) Plaintiffs have suffered or will suffer a loss in the value of its business as a 

going concern; (d) Plaintiffs have suffered or will suffer a substantial loss of goodwill normally 

attached to a profitable enterprise; and (e) Plaintiffs have suffered a lost potential for growth. 

10. Plaintiffs cannot now measure these damages with specificity but estimate such amount 

to be in excess of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00). 

PARTIES 

11. Plaintiff Topfire Limited with Amazon marketplace name “Auto Off-roading” 

(“Topfire”) is a company organized and existing under the laws of Hong Kong, having its principal 

place of business in Hong Kong, China. Topfire is a wholesaler, distributor, and retailer of automotive 

accessories and other retail products in the United States and elsewhere. Topfire distributes its products 

on ecommerce platforms such as Amazon.com. 

12. Plaintiff HK Miuson International Co., Limited with Amazon marketplace name 

“Freedream4x4” (“Miuson”) is a company organized and existing under the laws of Hong Kong, having 

its principal place of business in Hong Kong, China. Miuson is a distributor of automotive accessories in 

the United States and elsewhere Miuson distributes its products on ecommerce platforms such as 

Amazon.com. 

13. Plaintiff Shenzhenshilingbinqipeiyouxiangongsi with Amazon marketplace name 

“Autobasis” (“Autobasis”) is a company organized and existing under the laws of the Guangdong, 

China. Autobasis is a distributor of automotive accessories in the United States and elsewhere. 

Autobasis distributes its products on ecommerce platforms such as Amazon.com. 

14. Plaintiff Jianggongxiushenzhenguojimaoyiyouxiangongsi with Amazon marketplace 

name “MASTERSHOW” (“Mastershow”) is a company organized and existing under the laws of the 

Guangdong, China. Mastershow is a distributor of automotive accessories in the United States and 

elsewhere. Mastershow distributes its products on ecommerce platforms such as Amazon.com. 

15. Upon information and belief, Defendant Benjamin D. Cook (“Cook”) is an individual 

located in Placer County in the State of California. 
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16. Upon information and belief, Defendant is involved in the motor vehicle accessories 

industry and sells goods to customers located in California and elsewhere in the United States.  

17. Upon information and belief, Defendant conducts business throughout the United 

States, including within the State of California. 

18. Plaintiffs are ignorant of the true names and capacities of defendants who are named 

herein under the fictitious names DOES 1-10, inclusive. Plaintiffs will seek leave of court to amend 

the complaint to allege their true names and capacities when ascertained. Plaintiffs are informed and 

believe, and thereon allege, that each of the fictitiously named DOE defendants is responsible in some 

manner for the wrongful conduct alleged herein. Plaintiffs further allege that each defendant acted in 

concert and participation with, as agents or representatives of, at the request of, or on behalf of 

Benjamin Cook. Each charge and allegation alleged herein is, therefore, also hereby alleged against 

each fictitiously named DOE defendant. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

19. This is a civil action for a declaration of noninfringement and invalidity of a patent, 

arising under the patent laws of the United States, including, without limitation, 35 U.S.C. § 100, et 

seq., and the Declaratory Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2201, et seq. Specifically, Plaintiffs bring this 

action, in part, under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1332, and 1338, to obtain declaratory judgment that Plaintiffs 

is not infringing the ‘539 Patent. 

20. Plaintiffs also bring this action under the principal of pendent jurisdiction, to recover 

damages, costs of suit, and reasonable attorneys fees, against Defendant for injuries sustained by 

Plaintiffs as a result of Defendant’s interference with Plaintiffs’ business relations, and for appropriate 

relief arising from Defendant’s violation of California Business and Profession Code §§ 17200, 17500, 

17535, and common law trade libel and tortuous interference with economic advantage, as alleged 

herein. 

21. This Court has original subject matter jurisdiction over the claims in this action under 

the patent laws of the United States under Title 28, United States Code § 1391 and § 1400 and the 

Declaratory Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201-2202.  This Court also has supplemental jurisdiction 

over Plaintiffs’ state law claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367. 
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22. The matter in controversy exceeds the sum of $75,000.00 exclusive of interest and costs. 

23. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant by virtue of Defendant conducting 

business in this Judicial District. Defendant has also engaged in statutory violations within the State of 

California. 

24. Venue properly lies within the Eastern District of California pursuant to 28 U.S.C.  

§ 1391(b), (c), and (d) and §1400. 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

25.  Plaintiffs Topfire, Miuson, Mastershow, and Autobasis all distribute automotive 

accessories, including various products in the United States. Each of the Plaintiffs sells through e-

commerce, including on Amazon.com marketplace. 

26. Specifically, Plaintiff Topfire sells via e-commerce and online retailer several types of 

cup expander for automobiles, including, but not limited to the following items on Amazon.com market 

place: 

 Amazon.com ASIN: B09NBKXSLL 

Item title: Upgraded Car Cup Holder Expander Adapter with Offset Adjustable 

Base, Compatible with Yeti 14/24/36/46oz Ramblers, Hydro Flasks 32/40oz, Other 

Large Bottles Mugs in 3.4"-4.0", 1 Pack 

Link: https://www.amazon.com/gp/product/B09NBKXSLL 

 Amazon.com ASIN: B09N8K3H8Y 

Item title: Upgraded Car Cup Holder Expander Adapter with Offset Adjustable 

Base, Compatible with Yeti 14/24/36/46oz Ramblers, Hydro Flasks 32/40oz, Other 

Large Bottles Mugs in 3.4"-4.0", 2 Pack 

Link: https://www.amazon.com/gp/product/B09N8K3H8Y 

27. Plaintiff Miuson sells via e-commerce and online retailer several types of cup expander 

for automobiles, including, but not limited to the following items on Amazon.com market place: 

 Amazon.com ASIN: B0BFWJNNRL 
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Item title: SEVEN SPARTA Cup Holder Phone Mount for Car Cup Holder 

Expander Adjustable Base with 360° Rotation Cup Phone Holder for Car 

Compatible with iPhone Samsung Galaxy All Smartphones Upgrade 2-in-1 

Link: https://www.amazon.com/gp/product/B0BFWJNNRL 

28. Plaintiff Autobasis sells via e-commerce and online retailer several types of cup 

expander for automobiles, including, but not limited to the following items on Amazon.com market 

place: 

 Amazon.com ASIN: B0CC1XPK1Z 

Item Title: Seven Sparta Car Cup Holder Tray, 2 in 1 Car Food Tray Cup Holder 

Expander Compatible with Yeti, Hydro Flasks, Other Large Bottles Mugs in 3.4"-

4.0", Car Travel Accessories for Long Trips 

Link: https://www.amazon.com/gp/product/B0CC1XPK1Z 

29. Plaintiff Mastershow sells via e-commerce and online retailer several types of cup 

expander for automobiles, including, but not limited to the following items on Amazon.com market 

place: 

 Amazon.com ASIN: B09GLVQZ1Q 

Item title: Upgraded Large Cup Holder Expander for Car with Offset Expandable 

Base Compatible with Yeti Mug10/14oz Yeti Rambler 20/24/26/30/36/46oz Hydro 

Flasks 32/40oz Other Large Bottles in 3.4"-4" Diameter 

Link: https://www.amazon.com/gp/product/B09GLVQZ1Q 

 Amazon.com ASIN: B0BD56KZ19 

Item Title: Master Show 2-in-1 Car Cup Holder Cell Phone Holder, Large Car Cup 

Holder Expander with Phone Holder, Cell Phone Holder for Car, Compatible with 

iPhone, Samsung & All Smartphones 

Link: https://www.amazon.com/gp/product/B0BD56KZ19 

30. The products in the listing above from each of the Plaintiffs hereinafter are individually 

referred to as “Cup Expander Product” and collectively referred to as “Cup Expander Products.” 

31. Defendant is a direct competitor of each of the Plaintiffs. 
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32. Around October 2023, each of the Plaintiffs received an email from Amazon.com, Inc. 

(“Amazon”) informing that each of them that Amazon received a “report” from Defendant who 

believes that the items listed in the email, which includes all of the above listed Cup Expander 

Products, infringe the ‘539 Patent and requested Amazon to immediate take down the respective 

listings of each of the Plaintiffs for the Cup Expander Products on Amazon’s website. 

33. Amazon’s email further provided that the sellers on Amazon’s marketplace may 

continue to sell the listed items only if the patent owner—the Defendant—agrees to retract its 

complaint. 

34. Amazon provided an option for the parties to participate in Amazon’s own evaluation 

procedure entitled “Amazon Patent Evaluation Express” (APEX) which is a limited procedure that 

provides no discovery and limited defenses. The cost to participate in APEX for each of the Plaintiffs is 

$4,000. Failure to participate in APEX would result in the take down of each of the Plaintiffs’ 

respective listings by Amazon. See attached Exhibit 2 for a true and correct copy of the Amazon Patent 

Evaluation Express (APEX) Agreement executed by Defendant listing the accused products, including 

the Cup Expander Products, on Amazon. 

35. Amazon further indicated that it would also accept the finding by a court of competent 

jurisdiction regarding the issue whether there is patent infringement and the defenses on the basis of 

invalidity and/or unenforceability and the use of prior art.  

36. As a result of Defendant’s “report” to Amazon, Amazon has threatened to delist each of 

the Plaintiffs’ listings for each of the Cup Expander Products. Amazon has set a deadline to delist each 

of the listings and the take down of the listings on Amazon marketplace is imminent. 

37. Defendant has spread knowingly false statements for the purpose of harming the 

Plaintiffs. These statements include the falsehood that, as of the time such statements were made, 

Plaintiffs’ Cup Expander Products infringes the ‘539 Patent. 

38. Defendant’s continuous false, unfair, or otherwise unlawful tactics with the intention of 

harassing Plaintiffs and forcing Plaintiffs to cease selling Plaintiffs’ Cup Expander Products have 

caused serious interference with Plaintiffs’ business operation and caused huge loss of profits to 

Plaintiffs. Further, Plaintiffs’ goodwill and business reputation have also been negatively affected. 
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INTERSTATE COMMERCE 

39. Defendant’s activities, including activities relating to its illegal and unfair competition, 

are in the flow of and substantially affect interstate commerce. 

40. Upon information and belief, Defendant ships its cup expanders across state lines. 

Defendant reaps substantial revenues from sales of such products, which are at issue in this Complaint, 

amounting to a significant dollar amount throughout the United States. 

41. The actions taken by Defendant to wrongfully enforce of the ’539 Patent was 

specifically intended to monopolize and restrain trade in the relevant markets. The threats of 

infringement also have created a substantial disruption among customers and consumers in the relevant 

markets.  

42. Upon information and belief, Defendant knew its unlawful actions directed at Plaintiffs, 

and the consuming public in California and elsewhere, were intended to extend the ‘539 Patent scope 

beyond its legitimate coverage to intimidate and harm competitors such as Plaintiffs from competing in 

the relevant markets. 

43. As a direct and proximate result of the violations alleged herein, Plaintiffs have been, 

and will continue to be immediately and irreparably injured in its business and property by Defendant’s 

continuing wrongful conducts. Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law to compensate for such 

injury, and unless Defendant is restrained by an appropriate order of this Court, Plaintiffs will continue 

to suffer an inability to compete fully and fairly in the market, loss of its revenues, loss of profits it 

would other have made, loss of substantial goodwill and reputation normally attached to a profitable 

enterprise, and a reduction in the value of its business as a going concern. 

44. Plaintiffs cannot now measure the damages with specificity. When Plaintiffs have 

sufficient information to permit it alleges with specificity the quantum of its damages, Plaintiffs will 

ask leave of the Court to amend this Complaint to insert said sum herein.  

45. Defendant’s action in alleging infringement have placed Plaintiffs at reasonable 

apprehension of suit for infringement of the ‘539 Patent.  

46. Absent a declaration of rights by this Court, the assertions and threats by Defendant will 

subject Plaintiffs to continuing uncertainty and damages to its business. To resolve the legal and factual 
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questions raised by Plaintiffs and to afford relief from uncertainty and controversy which the assertions 

and threats by Defendant have precipitated, Plaintiffs are entitled to a declaratory judgment of its rights 

under 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202. 

CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 

COUNT ONE 

DECLARATORY JUDGMENT OF NONINFRINGEMENT OF THE ‘539 PATENT 

47. Plaintiffs hereby re-allege and incorporate by reference the allegations set forth in the 

preceding paragraphs. 

48. Plaintiffs’ Cup Expander Products have been wrongfully accused by Defendant of 

infringing the ‘539 Patent. 

49. Plaintiffs’ Cup Expander Products do not infringe the ‘539 Patent. 

50. As a result of Defendant’s actions, statements, and the totality of circumstances detailed 

above, a controversy exists between Plaintiffs and Defendant concerning whether each of the Plaintiffs’ 

Cup Expander Products infringe the ‘539 Patent owned by Defendant. 

51. Therefore, Plaintiffs are requesting the Court to grant the Plaintiffs a judgment declaring 

that Plaintiffs’ Cup Expander Products do not infringing the ‘539 Patent. 

COUNT TWO 

VIOLATION OF CALIFORNIA UNFAIR COMPETITION LAW SECTION 17200 

(CAL. BUS. & PROF. CODE §17200, et seq.) 

52. Plaintiffs hereby re-allege and incorporate by reference the allegations set forth in the 

preceding paragraphs. 

53. The California Unfair Competition Law (“UCL”) prohibits acts of “unfair competition”, 

including any “unlawful, unfair and fraudulent business act or practice”. Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 

17200.  

54. Defendant’s actions set forth herein constitute intentional business acts and practices that 

are unlawful, unfair, and fraudulent, including Defendant’s unreasonable demand, unreasonable 

“reports” of alleged infringement to Amazon, and harassment to Plaintiffs. 
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55. As stated above, Defendant violated the Unfair Competition Law by making false 

“reports” to Amazon and engaging in disseminating misleading statements as to the alleged Plaintiffs’ 

infringement of the ‘539 Patent to Amazon.  

56. Defendant will continue to cause confusion, mistake, and deception as to Plaintiffs’ Cup 

Expander Products due to Defendant wrongfully accusing Plaintiffs’ infringement of the ‘539 Patent. 

57. Plaintiffs directly compete with Defendant in the cup expander industry. 

58. By reason of Defendant’s acts of unfair competition, Plaintiffs have suffered and will 

continue to suffer irreparable injury unless and until this Court enters an order enjoining Defendant from 

any further acts of unfair competition. Defendant’s continuing acts of unfair competition, unless 

enjoined, will cause irreparable damage to Plaintiffs in that there is no adequate remedy at law to compel 

Defendant to cease such acts, and no way to determine its losses proximately caused by such acts of 

Defendant. Plaintiffs are therefore entitled to a preliminary injunction against further unlawful and 

unfair conduct by Defendant.  

59. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s acts of unfair competition, Defendant has 

wrongfully taken Plaintiffs’ profits and sales, as well as its substantial investment of time, energy and 

money. Defendant should therefore disgorge all profits from the above conduct and further should be 

ordered to perform full restitution to Plaintiffs as a consequence of Defendant’s unlawful, unfair, and 

fraudulent activities. 

COUNT THREE 

TRADE LIBEL 

60. Plaintiffs hereby re-allege and incorporate by reference the allegations set forth in the 

preceding paragraphs. 

61. To prove trade libel under California common law, Plaintiffs must show that (1) the 

accused party made a statement disparaging the claimant’s product, (2) the disparaging statement was 

couched as fact and not opinion, (3) the statement was false, (4) the statement was made with malice, 

and (5) the statement caused monetary loss. Optinrealbig.com LLC v. Ironport Sys., Inc., 323 F. Supp. 

2d 1037, 1048 (C.D. Cal. 2004).  
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62. Defendant made a statement in Defendant’s “report” to Amazon alleging that Plaintiffs’ 

Cup Expander Products infringe the ‘539 Patent owned by Defendant.  

63. This statement was made with malice, and Defendant’s sole purpose is to interfere with 

Plaintiffs’ normal business and force Plaintiffs to cease selling each of Plaintiffs’ Cup Expander 

Products, which directly compete with Defendant’s Products. 

64. On information and belief, Defendant willfully, and without justification, communicated 

to one or more of Plaintiffs’ business partners, including Amazon, regarding false statement that 

Plaintiffs’ Cup Expander Products infringe the ‘634 Patent owned by Defendant.  

65. On information and belief, these statements were reasonably understood by one or more 

of the persons to whom they were published to be statements of fact concerning Plaintiffs, their 

respective businesses, and/or their respective products.  

66. On information and belief, Defendant’s statements disparaged the above described 

Plaintiffs’ product and commercial activities in that they falsely cast doubt on Plaintiffs’ rights to make, 

use, offer for sale, sell, and import its technology and/or products.  

67. The statement was couched as fact since Defendant indicated Plaintiffs’ product was an 

infringement, and there are no words that indicate Defendant had an opinion of whether there was 

infringement. In the demand letter, Defendant plainly stated Plaintiffs’ product infringed its ‘539 patent. 

68. The statement is false as Plaintiffs’ Products do not infringe the ‘539 Patent. 

69. On information and belief, Defendant made these false statements with malice and in bad 

faith because it made them with knowledge of their falsity or with reckless disregard for their truth or 

falsity. 

70. As a proximate result Defendant’s publication of statement, Plaintiffs have suffered and 

will continue to suffer disruption to its business and financial loss once Amazon delists the Cup 

Expander Products from Amazon marketplace.  

71. Plaintiffs are thus entitled to recovery of damages for at least the damages to their 

respective goodwill well as the eventual loss of sales. 
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72. Furthermore, on information and belief, Defendant’s statements were motivated by an 

intent to damage Plaintiffs amounting to malice on Defendant’s part. This malice therefore justifies an 

award of exemplary and punitive damages. 

COUNT FOUR 

TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE WITH PROSPECTIVE ECONOMIC ADVANTAGE 

73. Plaintiffs hereby re-allege and incorporate by reference the allegations set forth in the 

preceding paragraphs. 

74. Plaintiffs have valuable prospective business relations with its business partners—

including, in this particular instance, Amazon—and its customers in this Judicial District and throughout 

the country. Defendant knew or should have known these business relationships because Plaintiffs and 

Defendant are in direct competition. 

75. There were existing business or economic relationships between Plaintiffs and Amazon 

as well as certain customers, and these relationships were reasonably certain to produce future economic 

benefits to Plaintiffs. 

76. On information and belief, Defendant knew or should have known of these relationships. 

77. On information and belief, Defendant knew that its “report” would result in the take 

down of each of the listings for the Cup Expander Products by Amazon. 

78. On information and belief, Defendant intentionally and in bad faith committed wrongful 

acts designed to interfere with or disrupt these relationships. On information and belief, Defendant 

wrongfully and intentionally represented to Amazon that Plaintiffs’ Cup Expander Products infringe the 

‘539 Patent. 

79. Defendant’s conduct was wrongful for a number of reasons, including, but not limited to, 

the fact that it amounts to unfair, or anti-competitive business practices and trade libel. 

80. On information and belief, Defendant’s wrongful acts caused disruption of the above-

mentioned relationships. 

81. Plaintiffs suffered damages caused by the disruption of the above-mentioned 

relationships. 
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82. Plaintiffs are informed, and believes, and based thereon alleges that Defendant acted with 

fraud, malice, and oppression, such that an award of punitive damages is justified. 

COUNT FIVE 

DECLARATION OF INVALIDITY OF US 11,772,539 B2 PATENT 

83. Plaintiffs hereby re-allege and incorporate by reference the allegations set forth in the 

preceding paragraphs. 

84. U.S. Patent No. 11,772,539 B2 is owned by Defendant and a copy thereof is attached 

hereto as Exhibit 1. 

85. Plaintiffs contend that the claims of the ‘539 Patent is invalid for failure to comply with 

one or more conditions for patentability set forth in Part II of Title 35 of the United States Code, 

including 35 U.S.C. §103 because it is anticipated or is obvious in view of prior arts available. 

86. In particular, a claimed design is invalid as “obvious” if it would have been obvious to a 

designer of ordinary skill who designs articles of the type involved. 

87. Here, the combination of the prior arts available would suggest the claimed design to a 

designer of ordinary skill. Indeed, a designer of ordinary skill would have combined these references to 

create the same overall visual appearance as the claimed design. 

88. By combining the design of the prior art, the ‘539 Patent is invalid for obviousness 

under 35 U.S.C. § 103. 

89. An actual and justiciable controversy within the meaning of the Declaratory Judgment 

Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2201, et seq., exists between Plaintiffs and Defendant with respect to the invalidity of 

the ‘539 Patent. 

90. A judicial declaration of the invalidity of the ‘539 Patent, under 35 U.S.C. § 103 for 

Obviousness, is necessary and appropriate to resolve this controversy. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for relief and judgment against Defendant as follows: 

91. The entry of Declaratory Judgment that Plaintiffs do not infringe the ‘539 Patent; 
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92. An Order enjoying Defendant from engaging in the false and unlawful conduct 

described in this lawsuit, including but not limited to preventing Defendant from causing any of the 

Plaintiffs listings for the Cup Expander Products from being taken down on Amazon; 

93. That Defendant takes nothing by its complaint; 

94. An Order declaring that the claims of the ‘539 Patent is invalid; 

95. Damages under the aforesaid cause of action in the form of actual damages, and an 

award of enhanced or treble damages, in an amount to be determined at trial; 

96. An Order requiring Defendant to pay both pre- and post-judgment interest on any 

amounts awarded to the extent allowed by law; 

97. An award of reasonable attorney’s fees and costs of suit incurred herein; and 

98. Any further relief as the Court deems appropriate.  

 

 

 
DATED: October 30, 2023   INHOUSE CO. LAW FIRM 

 
By: ____________________________ 

       Alexander Chen, Esq. 
       Katja M. Grosch, Esq. 
       Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
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DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

 Plaintiffs hereby demand a trial by jury on all claims. 

 

 

DATED: October 30, 2023   INHOUSE CO. LAW FIRM 

 
By: ____________________________ 

       Alexander Chen, Esq. 
       Katja M. Grosch, Esq. 
       Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
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Amazon Patent Evaluation Express Agreement 

This Amazon Patent Evaluation Express (APEX) Agreement (“Agreement”) is between the Patent 
Owner (or Patent Owner’s authorized representative) listed in Exhibit 1 and the Seller or Sellers (or their 
authorized representative(s)) listed in Exhibit 2 (collectively, “Participants”). 

Amazon.com, Inc. (“Amazon”) has developed the APEX Procedure (“Procedure”) for owners of United 
States utility patents to obtain an evaluation of their patent infringement claims against products offered by 
third-party sellers on amazon.com (“Evaluation”). By executing this agreement, the Patent Owner represents 
and warrants that it owns or has the right to enforce the patent identified in Exhibit 1 (“Patent”), and asserts 
that listings identified by the Amazon Standard Identification Numbers (“ASINs”) in Exhibit 1 (“Products”) 
infringe the patent claim identified in Exhibit 1. 

By respectively executing Exhibits 1 and 2, Patent Owner and Seller agree as follows: 

1. Following the Evaluation Procedure. Patent Owner and Seller have reviewed and agree to comply with the 
Procedure, which is incorporated herein by reference. Patent Owner agrees to accurately complete Exhibit 1, 
and Seller agrees to accurately complete Exhibit 2. Both Exhibits 1 and 2 are incorporated herein by reference. 

2. Confidentiality; No Discovery. Participants agree not to disclose to third parties information or documents 
learned from other Participants, Amazon, or Evaluator in the Evaluation, except to their respective affiliates, 
legal counsel or as required by law; provided, however, that the fact that an Accused Product and ASIN 
(identified in Exhibit 1) was either removed or not as a result of an Evaluation, and the identity of the patent 
claim in that Evaluation, shall not be considered confidential. Participants agree that receipt or disclosure of 
any information relating to patents in APEX may not be used in court or any agency proceeding to establish 
notice of patent infringement, knowledge of any patent, or to establish damages. Participants agree not to 
seek discovery from other Participants, Amazon, or Evaluator relating to the Evaluation in any litigation, 
arbitration, or agency proceeding. 

3. Waiver of Claims. Participants acknowledge and agree that neither Amazon nor Evaluator shall be liable 
for any claims arising out of the Procedure or Evaluation, and Participants hereby waive any claims (including 
claims that are unknown or are based on activities that have not yet occurred) against Amazon or Evaluator 
relating to the Procedure or Evaluation; provided that, the foregoing shall not be deemed to waive any rights 
or claims of a Participant to receive a refund of amounts paid by a Participant that should be returned to a 
Participant pursuant to the rules of the Procedure. Participants agree that Amazon’s liability to any Participant 
relating to the Evaluation is limited to any payment made by that Participant to the Evaluator. Participants 
agree not to sue Amazon or its affiliates for infringement of the Patent with respect to the ASINs listed on 
Exhibit 1 or materially identical products. Nothing in this Agreement shall limit a Participant’s ability to sue any 
Seller or other third party for infringement of the Patent. 

4. Updating Participant’s Information. Contact during the Evaluation will occur through the email addresses 
listed in Exhibits 1 and 2. It is each Participant’s responsibility to ensure that its email address and other 
information in Exhibits 1 and 2 remain accurate and current. 

5. General Matters. This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the state of Washington, USA, and 
Participants agree to the jurisdiction and venue of the federal and state courts located in King County, 
Seattle, Washington. Any dispute regarding this Agreement may be submitted to the Evaluator, and if not 
resolved by the Evaluator may only be resolved by Amazon, in its sole discretion. Participants may not assign 
their rights or obligations under this Agreement. This Agreement does not create any partnership or any 
fiduciary relationship between or among the Participants, the Evaluator and Amazon. No third party is 
intended to be a beneficiary of this Agreement, except that the parties agree and acknowledge that the 
Evaluator and Amazon are third- party beneficiaries of Sections 2 and 3 of this Agreement. This Agreement 
and the APEX Procedure are the entire agreement for the Evaluation and supersede any prior agreements 
related to the Evaluation. 
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Exhibit 1: Patent Owner-Supplied Information 
 

Patent Owner name: 
 

Patent Owner physical address: 
 

Names of any corporate parents, subsidiaries, or other entities related to Patent Owner: 
 
 
 

Name of individual contact for Patent Owner or Patent Owner’s authorized representative: 
 
 
 

Is Patent Owner registered in Amazon’s Brand Registry? If yes, please identify the brand(s) registered in 
Brand Registry: 

 
 

Email Address for contact (this email address will be used by the Evaluator and Amazon for communications 
related to the Evaluation): 

 
United States utility patent number (“Asserted Patent”) for Evaluation: 

Patent Claim number for Evaluation: 

Amazon Standard Identification Numbers (ASINs) of Accused Products: 
 

     
     
     
     

 
 
 

Signature:   
 
 

Name:   
 
 

Title:   
 
 

Date:   

Benjamin Cook

200 Gateway Dr. #2046 
Lincoln, CA 95648

Ben Cook

Swigzy

info@swigzy.com

1

B09NBKXSLL
B0BGHDZ2DP
B0BNQMLTGK
B0BGLH4KQ7

B0C46KQHWG

B0BJ32D6KQ
B0BHT9BSC9
B09N8K3H8Y

B09GLVQZ1Q
B09MJ4TFV7

B0BZP51KR9
B0C3GMM2R3

B0CC1XPK1Z
B0CHW9S3ND
B0BKWKW522
B0BVFHQTG2

B0BNTR6GTB
B0BFWJNNRL
B0BD56KZ19
B0BZY28YCF

Patent Owner

Benjamin Cook

10/9/2023

US 11,772,539 B2
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Exhibit 2: Seller-Supplied Information 
 

Seller name: 
 

Seller physical address: 
 

Names of any corporate parents, subsidiaries, or other entities related to Seller: 
 
 
 

Name of individual contact for Seller or Seller’s authorized representative: 
 
 
 

Email Address for contact (this email address will be used by the Evaluator and Amazon for communications 
related to the Evaluation): 

 
Amazon Standard Identification Numbers (ASINs) of Accused Products for which Seller will participate in the 
Evaluation: 

 
     
     
     
     

 
 
 

Signature:   
 
 

Name:   
 
 

Title:   
 
 

Date:   
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